IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

FILED

JUL 14 1997

CLERK, SUBREME COURT

RONALD JORGENSON,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 86,916

(Court-Appointed)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ADDEAL EDOM THE CIDCLUT COL

1

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BYRON P. HILEMAN 65 Third Street, N.W. Suite 201 Post Office Drawer 9479 Winter Haven, FL 33883-9479 Telephone: (941) 299-4883 Florida Bar No. 235660

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal is a direct appeal from the Judgment and Sentence of death imposed by the Circuit Court of the Tenth Judicial Circuit on September 29, 1995, the Hon. Daniel True Andrews, Circuit Judge presiding.

The Record will be recited as follows. The Record [Papers and Pleadings] including the documents, motions, orders, preliminary hearings, and sentencing hearings and documents, which appear in Record volumes I. through IV. are continuously paginated from page 1 through page 548. In Appellant's Brief these will be referenced by the letter R. and the page number, e.g. [R. 1-2].

The part of the Record representing the trial transcripts which appear in Record volumes IV. through **XXI**. are continuously paginated with the court reporter page numbers **from** 1 through 2960. In Appellant's Brief these will be referenced by the letter T. and the page number, e.g. [T. **1230-34**].

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the late afternoon of December 3, 1993, Appellant Ronald Jorgenson was arrested and charged with first degree murder. An Indictment was filed on December 9, 1993. [R. 1-2].

The Public Defender conflicted off because it represented State witness Laurie Kilduff. [R. 4-5]. The Court appointed conflict counsel, Lawrence D. Shearer, on January 4, 1994. The Court appointed a second counsel, Byron Hileman, on or about September 21, 1994. [R. 19-23; 36-55].

Extensive discovery followed and various experts and investigators were appointed to assist the Appellant. A Pretrial Motion to Suppress Evidence was heard and denied on February 24, 1995. [R. 194-97; 203-57]. Numerous other pretrial motions and standard death penalty motions were also filed and heard.

A Motion to Suppress Evidence was filed by Appellant to exclude several items of evidence seized without warrant, including the shoes worn by Appellant to the Sheriff's substation on December 2nd and taken from him there, certain items taken from a search of his house that evening, saliva samples taken from him for DNA tests, and statements made by him that day. [R. 194-97]. A hearing on that Motion was held on February 24, 1995. [R. 203-57]. The trial court denied the Motion to Suppress.

On that same date the trial court heard argument, considered, and denied Appellant's Motion Objecting To Standard Jury Instruction on Premeditated Murder; and for a Corrective Instruction, [R. **178-85**; **260-65**]. It also heard argument on and denied Appellant's Motion Objecting to Standard Jury Instruction on Reasonable Doubt. [R. 170-77; 265-73]. Also heard and granted were Appellant's Motion for the State to Reveal Impeaching Information as to its Witnesses including Laurie Kilduff, a Motion to Require the State to Disclose Mitigating Evidence, and a standard "Brady" motion. [R. 159-62; 163-66; 167-69; **270-85**].

-2-

The trial court also heard on February 24, 1995, and granted Appellant's Motion to Prohibit **Presentence** Investigation Report. [R. 156-58; **285-90**].

The court heard argument on that same date on Appellant's Motion to Declare Fla. Stat. Section 92 1.14 1 Unconstitutional for Failure to Provide the Jury with Adequate Guidance in finding Sentencing Circumstances and to Prohibit the Death Penalty, and his Motion to Declare 92 1.14 1 Unconstitutional because it Precludes the Consideration of Mitigation by Imposing Improper Burden of Proof, and Appellant's Motion to Declare Section 92 1.141 Unconstitutional for Lack of Appellate Review. All three motions were denied. **[R**. 104-05; 117-42; 154-55; 143-53; **287-92]**. Last the court heard and denied Appellant's Motion to Declare Fla. Stat. Section 92 1.141 Unconstitutional for Permitting a Bare Majority of Jurors to Recommend a Death Sentence. **[R. 106-08; 97-98]**.

A second Motion to Suppress relating to statements made by Appellant in jail to a State "snitch witness", Walter Fudge, was heard on June 29, 1995, and granted in part. [R. 321-24; 338-43; **352**]. Fudge was not called at trial.

Jury trial of Appellant began August 7, **1995.The** State had filed a timely Notice of Intent to Prove Other Crimes, Wrongs, or Acts on February 5, 1995. In that notice the State related its intent to show that both victim and defendant were involved in the sale and use of methamphetamine. It asserted the information was relevant to show motive, and to explain the relationship between the victim and the defendant in this case. [R. **302**].

The Appellant filed a Motion to Exclude Evidence of Other Wrongs on July 28, 1995. **[R**. **360-62]**. Hearing was held on the defense motion on August 7, 1995, before jury selection began. **[T. 23-26]**. At hearing the Assistant State Attorney announced he had no intent to go into the drug dealing business in his case-in-chief and would not address it in opening statement. **[T. 23]**.

-3-

The court then granted the defense motion to exclude drug dealer/sales evidence from trial. [R. 363; T. 26].

In the midst of voir dire, the State asked the court to reconsider its ruling on the defense Motion to Exclude Evidence of Other Wrongs previously granted [T. 329]. Extensive argument and discussion was had. The State now declared its intent to use evidence of Appellant's drug dealing to show motive. [T. 332-37]. The defense restated its objection that the notice of the State was vague [T. 333-34], and that evidence that the Appellant was a drug dealer as distinguished from the excessive use of drugs by Appellant and the victim was not relevant. The defense pointed out that the State's declaration that such evidence was relevant to motive was pure speculation and that the State had no evidence to support an assertion that the killing had anything to do with selling drugs. The defense further asserted that the risk of extreme unfair prejudice was very great because selling drugs or being a "drug dealer" is viewed much more seriously by jurors than simple drug use or possession. The State admitted it had no evidence to support its motive theory, i.e. to connect the drug dealing to the homicide, but said, nonetheless, it was an inference the jury could draw. [T. 3 5 1]. Assistant State Attorney Aguero made this point in a colloquy with defense counsel Shearer and Hileman and the trial court. [T.348-55]. [See Argument Issue V. Below].

The defense pointed out not only the risk of prejudice at guilt phase but that the risk was doubled because of the tendency of this evidence to contaminate and influence any penalty phase determination by the jury should one occur. [T. **336-355**]. The trial court erroneously reversed itself and permitted the State to introduce evidence concerning Appellant's drug dealing as relevant to motive. [T. **356**; R. **364**].

-4-

The jury returned a verdict of guilty on the charge of first degree murder on August 18, 1995. [R. 368; T. **2522-24**]. Penalty phase trial ensued and the jury returned a recommendation of the death penalty by a vote of 1 l-l on August 22, 1995. [R. 413; T. **2952-55**].

Appellant proffered a Memorandum in Support of Life Sentence on September 8, 1995. [R. 414-30]. A sentencing hearing was held before the court on September 8, 1995. [R. 43 1-99]. The court held a final sentencing hearing and sentenced Appellant to death on September 29, 1995. [R. 500-2 1]. The court filed its written sentencing order on the same date. [R. 522-36].

In its sentencing order the trial court, while reciting the Colorado Supreme Court statement of the facts of the Appellant's prior homicide verbatim, did so without any discussion or apparent assessment of the weight of those facts. Nowhere in its order does the court mention the stipulated autopsy report showing that victim Morgan was extremely intoxicated at the time of the homicide. Neither does the trial court mention in the order other undisputed facts which mitigate the weight of the aggravator from testimony of family members in penalty phase as set forth below in the Statement of Facts. Although the court does say it has considered the Colorado Supreme Court statement of facts and the fact that the homicide was almost thirty years ago, no discussion, assessment, nor explanation of any weighing by the trial court is found.

Apparently, the court did not discount the weight of the single aggravator at all as far as can be ascertained from its order. There is in the sentencing order only a **conclusory** statement that the single aggravator deserves great weight. **[R.528-29]**.

See Argument Issue IV.

The trial court in its sentencing order refuted into non- existence the extensive penalty phase evidence of the statutory and non-statutory mental mitigators, i.e. brain damage from

-5-

Appellant's chronic methamphetamine abuse, including paranoia, loss of contact with reality, blunted moral judgment, impulsivity and, added to that, the acute loss of judgment and impulse control due to more heavy than normal methamphetamine intoxication on the night of the murder. All of these facts were in evidence and were unrefuted by the State at penalty phase and formed the basis for testimony of two defense experts at penalty phase, both of whom found that both statutory mental mitigators **applied.[See** Statement of Facts and Argument on Issue III.].

The trial court dismissed that evidence by reciting selected facts showing Appellant's premeditation and his attempts to elude apprehension. The court concluded that those facts totally nullify the statutory mental mitigators supported by the uncontroverted testimony of two qualified experts in penalty phase. The court also found no non-statutory mental mitigation for the same reasons. Finally, while the court did find the non-statutory mitigator that Appellant was under the influence of drugs at the time of the murder, it also apparently reduced the weight of the non-statutory mitigator of drug intoxication to "minimal", also based upon the premeditation evidence. [See Statement of Facts and Argument on Issue III below].

The facts on which mental mitigation were grounded were in large part on testimony by State witnesses on the Appellant's use of greater than normal amounts of methamphetamine on the night of the murder, and the unchallenged testimony of friends and family in penalty phase to changes in Appellant's behavior **after** his drug addiction began in late 199 1. [See Statement of Facts]. None of these supporting facts nor any substantive testimony of the experts is directly addressed in the Order. Instead, we have only this which the court recites:

> "The Court rejects the opinion testimony of both Doctors that the defendant was under the influence of <u>extreme</u> mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the murder. The facts of this case do not establish to this Court the defendant committed the

> > -6-

murder of **Tammy** Jo Ruzga because he was under the influence of methamphetamine, i.e. the defendant's use of methamphetamine did not in any way cause him to kill the victim. At most, the facts of this case establish to this Court the defendant *got caught* because **meth**amphetamine caused the defendant to make mistakes that resulted in his arrest, i.e. leaving his shoe prints and a cigarette butt at the scene. (Emphasis in original)

In support of its conclusions regarding the effect of defendant's mental state on this offense, the Court has looked to the following facts as proven at trial:

The defendant, a few weeks prior to the murder, told people he wanted **Tammy** Jo Ruzga killed. At the time the individuals he told this to, Rocky Finley and Melissa Maynard, felt he was kidding. A few days prior to the murder the defendant started carrying a gun. The defendant, on the night of the murder, spoke to Laurie Kilduff Turney at 8:00p.m. and told her to call him again at 11:00p.m. (Tumey, pg. 12). The defendant in the 11 :OOp.m. telephone conversation, told Laurie to meet him at I-4 and Highway **33** (Turney, pg. 19). After Laurie arrived at the rendezvous the defendant then told her to drive to a remote area on Dean Still Road, which she did after stopping for gas. The defendant then got out of his car and approached Laurie's car and told her he could not get the victim into the driver's seat. (Tumey, pg.3 1). The defendant then took the 38 revolver he had at his side and went back to the driver's window of the car, spoke to the victim, and fired three shots into the victim's head at close range. He then took a baby's carrier out of the back seat and three pairs of blue jeans. (Tumey, pg. 34). He wiped the car's door and steering wheel and then gave the jeans and baby carrier to Laurie to give to her friends, Melissa Maynard and Rocky Finley. (Tumey, pg. 34-37).

The defendant then has Laurie drive him to two separate locations to possibly get rid of the gun at the second location by throwing it into Lake Hunter. The gun was never recovered. (Tumey,pg. 75).

The defendant and Laurie then went back to Rocky Finley's trailer, where defendant tried to establish an

alibi by telling Melissa Maynard, "If anyone asks, I have been here **from 11:30p.m.**" The defendant along with Laurie, smoked some more methamphetamine, yet around **6:30a.m**. he had the presence of mind to call the Sheriffs Department to report his car and girlfriend missing in order, " to make it look good." (Turney, pg. 49). From the first telephone call at **8:00p.m**. until the last telephone call at **6:30a.m**., there was a time period of ten and a half hours.

These facts contradict the testimony of the doctors and do not prove to this Court the defendant was under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance. These facts prove to this Court the defendant wanted the victim killed and that he planned to kill her; took her to a remote area, under a ruse, telling her they were going to meet the "Latin Rings"; he **left** his car there, and tried to establish an alibi. This Court calls particular attention to the fact that the defendant was level-headed and calm enough to call the Sheriffs Office at 6:30a.m. and continue the charade by reporting both his car and girlfriend missing even after smoking more methamphetamine. Nothing this defendant did was impulsive, or the product of paranoid thinking. Methamphetamine did not cause the killing, it only caused him to be caught. As Dr. Dee stated, the defendant was stupid to leave his shoe prints and cigarette butt at the scene. (Dee, pg. 60). This statutory mitigating factor does not exist. Alternatively, the defense has offered this mitigator as a non-statutory mitigator without the statutory qualifying adjective or adverb. The Court for the above reasons does not find this to exist even as a non-statutory mitigator. [R. 53 1-32].

The court in considering the **second statutory mental mitigator**, i.e. that the defendant's capacity to appreciate that what he was doing was wrong and to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired, used identical reasoning to find it did not exist, with the added caveat that Dr. Dee could not make any findings that Appellant did not know right from wrong. Again the court found this circumstance did not exist even in non-statutory form. [R. **533**]. The trial court never directly addressed Dr. Dee's clear testimony that

Appellant suffered measurable brain damage on neuro-psychological evaluation and his opinion that such damage did indeed form a nexus with the murder as to both statutory mental mitigators.[R. 530-33].

The trial court did find that the non-statutory mitigator, i.e. that Appellant committed the murder while under the influence of drugs, did exist, but gave it minimal weight for the very same reasons used to refute the mental mitigators.

The trial court's order addressed the proffered non-statutory mitigator that the murder arose in part from the emotions generated in a romantic domestic relationship and concluded it was not to be found proven nor **weighed**. **[R**. 5343. See also discussion in Argument Issue III.

The court did find a non-statutory mitigator in the disparate treatment given **co**perpetrator Laurie **Kilduff**, but gave it minimal **weight**.**[R.534-35]**. See also discussion in Argument Issue VI.

This direct appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the early morning hours of December 2, 1993, Appellant Ronald Jorgenson called the Polk County Sheriffs Department to report that his live-in girlfriend, **Tammy Jo Ruzga (33)** was missing. He related that she had left the previous evening in his red Mustang and had not returned. Since **Tammy** was a drug user with a serious addiction he was fearful that she had gone into a high drug area to obtain drugs and perhaps met with harm.

Shortly after 6:30 A.M. Deputy James Hibbs responded to Jorgenson's call and went to the latter's home at 1418 Southern Avenue in Lakeland. Jorgenson told Deputy Hibbs that he and his girlfriend lived together at that address. He related that they had argued the night before and that she had driven off in his car and had not returned. Jorgenson said he did not want the car reported stolen, he was worried about **Tammy's** safety because she had never stayed out so long by herself Jorgenson gave Hibbs a description of his car, its tag number, and **Tammy's** driver's license. [T. 2096; 1753-65] Appellant Jorgenson also telephoned neighbor Rocky Finley and other friends that morning, told them about **Tammy** Ruzga's failure to return, asking if they had information. [T. 1368-69; **1582-84**].

At about 6:45 A.M. on the morning of December 2, 1993, Oyd Crosby, a truck driver traveling on unpaved Dean Still Road in a remote rural area north of Lakeland saw a red Ford Mustang sitting on the side of the road. He observed what appeared to be a bullet hole in a window of the car and stopped to investigate. He saw footprints around the car and a young woman slumped in the car apparently very bloody. Crosby went to seek a phone. Nearby Crosby encountered Willie B. Milam Jr. and Milam offered to call police. Crosby returned to the car to

-10-

wait for authorities. After the calling 911, Milam returned to the car to wait with Crosby. [T. 1196-1225].

Paramedic Steven Powell of Polk Emergency Services arrived at the scene at 7:32 A.M. Powell examined the young woman slumped over in the front passenger seat of the Mustang. She was dead and already in rigor mortis. [T. 1247-53]. Jerome J. Burless, Polk County Deputy Sheriff, arrived on scene minutes after Powell. He and other officers secured the crime scene. [T. 1254-61].

Deputy Hibbs, who had resumed patrol duties, heard a radio transmission sending another unit to Dean Still Road on a call relating to the same car Jorgenson had described to him earlier. He responded to the scene and passed on that information. [T. 1759-60],

Shortly after her discovery the victim was identified as **Tammy Jo Ruzga** by **Detectives Warren** and **Cosper** with the aid of information and a photo supplied by Hibbs from Jorgenson.

Detectives learned that on the night she was killed Ms. Ruzga had driven the red Mustang over to the home of **Rebecca Holloway.** While there she picked up an infant **carseat** and some jeans belonging to Rocky Finley. The **carseat** was one that Holloway was offering to give to **Tammy** Ruzga's neighbors, Rocky Finley and Missy Maynard, for their new baby expected shortly. **Tammy** arrived at Holloway's about **9:00-9:15** P.M. and **left** before 10:00 P.M. [T. 1834-38].

Later detectives found several other witnesses to the crime scene. **Ruth Hall** returning home from work late on the night of December 1, 1993, saw the red Mustang parked on Dean Still Road about 11:55 P.M.-12:OO A.M. [T. 1232-38]. Mrs. Hall's son, **Raymond C. Hall**, traveled to work down Dean Still Road at about 11:30 P.M. on the same evening and saw no car there on the road at that time. [T. 1238-42]. Another witness, **Greg White**, saw the car on Dean

-11-

Still Road between 1:45 A.M. and 2:00 A.M. December 2, 1993. [T. 1242-47].

Cynthia Holland, crime scene technician for the Polk County Sheriffs Department, took photos of shoe prints from around the Mustang and photographed and made casts of tire impressions from a second car's tracks just ahead of the Mustang. She recovered a Camel Light cigarette butt from the area near the bumper of the Mustang, and one from its ashtray. Holland also took autopsy photos and collected physical evidence from the body. Holland collected a projectile from the car and three fragments of projectiles from the victim's head taken at autopsy. That evening Holland took into evidence a pair of shoes from Appellant Ronald Jorgenson, samples of his saliva, and tested his hands for gunshot residue. No murder weapon was ever found. [T. 1264-13 11; 13 11-46].

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