IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD JORGENSON,

Appellant,

vs.

5

CASE NO. 86,916

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No, 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TABLE OF PO-

PAGE NO.:

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS	,		•	. 1
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	•		•	12
ARGUMENT , , , , , , ,				14
ISSUE I	•		•	14
WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE AND STATEMENTS.

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

Dr. Thomas McClane -- who had never met appellant Jorgenson (TR 2849) -- described the stimulative aspects of methamphetamine, opined that chronic users tend to increase the dosage and the hyperalertness of the effect. People tend to become more paranoid. (TR 2857-60) Even ingesting more than the usual dosage a person could engage in purposive activity including deciding to commit a crime, arranging to meet with an accomplice and driving to a prearranged spot and asking others to furnish an alibi. (TR 2866-67) On cross-examination the witness admitted there was nothing in the defense-propounded hypothetical inconsistent with a person using small amounts of methamphetamines deciding to kill his girlfriend. (TR 2873) All users do not increase their use. (TR 2874)

without using drugs also kill and ask others to provide an alibi. (TR 2877) The witness explained that the long-term use was only important in the sense of build up of tolerance and his answer in the defense hypothetical depended on intoxication at the time of the offense. (TR 2879)

Jorgenson argues that the lower court erred by considering but refusing to weigh mitigation; the trial court may not, in his view, "substitute its own pseudo-scientific analysis for that of qualified experts". (Brief, p. 51) The trial court did not refuse to find and give weight to appropriate mitigation; the sentencing order in fact did find and accord minimum weight to appellant's use of methamphetamines and its influence on him at the time of the murder -- a non-statutory mitigator ("... did not in any way cause the defendant to commit the murder, it is the reason why he got caught... the reason why this highly intelligent man left his footprints and a cigarette butt at the scene." -- R 534).8

with respect to the rejection of Dr. McClane -- who had not seen or examined Jorgenson -- this expert agreed that the ingestion of even a greater than usual dosage of methamphetamines could still allow one to engage in purposive activity (such as deciding to commit a crime, arranging to meet with an accomplice, luring the victim and driving to a pre-arranged site, and asking others to

^{*}The state, too, is appreciative of the fact that Jorgenson's intelligence was not so great as to avoid prompt detection and apprehension.

furnish an alibi). All users do not increase their use and the defense-propounded hypothetical was consistent with a small amount user deciding to kill his girlfriend. (TR 2866-74) In light of the facts of the case, the trial court could permissibly reject both extreme mental or emotional disturbance and impaired capacity to conform conduct to the requirements of law as mitigators — either statutory or non-statutory. See Walls v. State, 641 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1994); Wuornos v. State, 676 So.2d 972 (Fla. 1996).

Similarly with respect to Dr. Dee who reported appellant's testing as "highly defensive normal" (TR 2802), who found no pathology or emotional disturbance at the time of testing (TR 2803), who acknowledged that appellant knows what he is doing "more than 99.6 % of the population" -- enough to continue denying a crime that he committed (TR 2803) -- that witness acknowledged he relied on appellant's self-report of his background (TR 2826) and Jorgenson's conduct both in the weeks before and after the homicide did not sound "terribly impulsive". (TR 2832-33) Jorgenson did not have an addictive personality that caused him to take drugs. (TR 2834)

Appellant does not seem to disagree with the trial court's assessment regarding the non-causative aspect of appellant's drug use with the Ruzga homicide -- and even the defense expert acknowledged that the prior murder of Philip Morgan had nothing to do with methamphetamine use. (TR 2827) Appellant characterizes

the trial court's treatment **as** requiring **a** mitigator to reduce one to an automaton when impairments can merely reduce a defendant's culpability. But as the trial court explained:

'As previously discussed above the defendant's actions do no [sic] show an inflamed man nor do they show an interference with the defendant's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. The defendant planned the murder, carried it out and attempted an alibi."

(emphasis supplied) (R 533)

Thus, the court was not misapprehending that the defendant must be reduced to an automaton; the court simply explained that there was no interference with the ability to conform conduct to the requirements of law. The trial court correctly -- not erroneously -- concluded that the coincidental, voluntary use of drugs (or alcohol) does not give a defendant immunity from the death penalty when committing a premeditated murder, especially one who has reached a level of maturity of fifty-plus years (rather than an immature youth) with a superior level of intelligence.

As to complaint that trial court failed to give sufficient weight to mitigating factors that were found, see Atkins v.Singletary, 965 F.2d 952, 962 (11th Cir. 1992); Gunsby v.State, 574 So.2d 1085, 1090 (Fla. 1991) (resolution of factual conflicts is solely the responsibility and duty of the trial judge and as an appellate court we have no authority to reweigh that evidence); Pettit v.State, 591 So.2d 618, 621 (Fla. 1992) (decision as to

whether mitigation has been established lies with the trial court); Ponticelli v. State, 593 So.2d 483 (Fla 1991), vacated on other grounds, 113 S.Ct. 32 (1992), affirmed. on rem&, 618 So.2d 154 1993) (rejecting defense argument that court failed to (Fla. consider unrebutted mitigating evidence; trial court found doctor's testimony speculation and there was competent, substantial evidence to support rejection of the mitigating evidence); Sireci v. State, 587 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1991) (decision as to whether a particular mitigating circumstance is established lies with the trial judge; reversal is not warranted simply because an appellant draws a different conclusion; since it is the trial court's duty to resolve conflicts in the evidence, that determination should be final if supported by competent, substantial evidence); Hall v. State, 614 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1993) (record supports trial judge's conclusion that mitigators either were not established or entitled to little weight).

B. Non-Statutory Mitigating Circumstances:

The trial court found two non-statutory mitigators -- homicide was committed while under the influence of methamphetamine which it gave minimal weight and disparate treatment afforded Laurie Kilduff Turney which it also ascribed minimal weight. (R 534-535) With respect to the proffered mitigator of domestic relationship, the court determined:

'2. The homicide was in part a product of emotions and/or disagreements stemming from

a romantic, domestic relationship that existed between the defendant and the victim.

This was not proved. The facts as the Court has previously outlined on #1. above do not support this. The defendant did not kill his girlfriend in the heat of passion or after stalking her, but planned it and carried it out. He killed her because she was using too much of his drugs and he felt she was becoming a liability and would expose his drug business. (Turney, pg. 167) (Hughes, pg. 241-242). This non-statutory mitigator has not been proved and the Court gives it no weight."

(R 534)

Curiously, appellant makes no reference in this section to <u>Spencer</u>.

<u>v. State</u>, 691 <u>So.2d</u> 1062 (Fla. 1997), although he makes a passing reference to it later at page 96 of his brief but then too does not address this Court's pertinent analysis:

"[8] Finally, Spencer argues that the death sentence is not proportionate in his case and cites a number of cases involving domestic disputes where this Court found that the death penalty was not warranted. State, 629 So.2d Santos v. e.g., (finding (Fla.1994) death sentence warranted for defendant who killed his daughter and her mother after a long history of domestic problems). However, this Court approved a "domestic dispute" never exception to imposition of the death penalty. See id. (finding death sentence disproportionate because four mitigating circumstances of extreme emotional disturbance, substantial inability to conform conduct to requirements of law, no prior history of criminal conduct, and abusive childhood outweighed single aggravating circumstance of prior violent felonies based upon crimes that occurred during the murders). In some murders that result from domestic

disputes, we have determined that CCP was erroneously found because the heated passions involved were antithetical to "cold" deliberation. Santos v. State, 591 So.2d 160, 162 (Fla.1991); Douglas v. State, 575 So.2d 165, 167 (Fla.1991). However, we have only reversed the death penalty if the striking of the CCP aggravator results in the death sentence being disproportionate."

(text at 1065)

See also <u>Walker v. State</u>, ____ So.2d ____, 22 Florida Law Weekly S537 (Fla. 1997), fn 12:

"Walker's related assertions that the trial court erroneously failed to consider in mitigation that these murders arose out of domestic dispute is without merit. This Court had never treated "domestic dispute" cases as categorically different than other death cases and the fact that a case is "domestic" in nature is not, in and of itself, mitigating. In any event, this case is distinguishable from other domestic disputes in that, unlike the typical domestic case, the evidence here does not suggest that the murders were the result of a sudden, emotionally charged fit of rage or anger."

Here, appellant acknowledges there is "no CCP aggravator in appellant's case". (Brief, p. 58) This Court's reasoning is directly on point and yet Jorgenson makes no effort to address it or argue that it should not be controlling in the instant case. The cases relied on by appellant at pages 58 and 59 do not compel the granting of relief sub judice. The instant case is not a jury override (like Douglas v State, 575 So.2d 165), this is not a case where no aggravators remain (like Richardson v. State, 604 So.2d 1107, or Kampff v. state, 371 So.2d 1007, or Amoros v. State, 531

So.2d 1256) or where the trial judge deems valid aggravators remaining to be insufficient to merit the death penalty (like Maulden v. State, 617 So.2d 298). This is not a case where the trial court's finding of the presence of the CCP aggravator is improper (as in White v. State, 616 So.2d 21, or Santos v. State, 591 So.2d 160) or where a number of improper factors were used in aggravation (as in Blair v. State, 406 So.2d 1103) or a heated domestic dispute unaccompanied by a conviction of a prior similar violent offense (as in Blakely v. State, 561 So.2d 560 or Klokoc v. State, 589 So.2d 219 or Wright v. State, 688 So.2d 298).

Factually the instant case is similar to Riechmann v. St-581 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1991), where the defendant murdered his "life companion" of thirteen years to recover insurance proceeds when she decided to guit prostitution, reducing her income to the defendant. Unlike the "domestic" cases urged by Jorgenson where the judgments have been clouded to some extent by being defendants' distraught over losing the victim (or some related family matter), here appellant's purpose was to lose or eliminate the victim no longer necessary or appropriate to his lifestyle. See also pope v. State, 679 So.2d 710 (Fla. 1996) (rejecting a disproportionality challenge on the basis of "domestic killing" since circumstances showed that it was something more than a lovers' quarrel); Orme v. State, 677 So.2d 258 (Fla. 1996) (rejecting defense argument that killing was an emotional reaction to an ended relationship with the

victim).

C. Other Non-Statutory Mitigating Circumstances:

Finally, appellant complains that the trial court did not address the following non-statutory mitigators: (1) appellant suffered an unstable and emotionally impoverished childhood with no father and a series of short-term stepfathers; (2) that as a child he started school young and whose immaturity caused him to be socially maladjusted in school and to be picked on; (3) that he dropped out of high school, later earning a G.E.D.; (4) that his childhood was in a single parent home impoverished economically [like (1), supra]; (5) that he led a law-abiding and productive life for twenty years [in between homicides]; (6) that he was a loving father to his daughter Tracy until using drugs in 1991; (7) that he was involved with his mother and family in supportive ways until he lost contact with them in 1991; (8) that he was a helpful friend to Linda Reeves, Inis Brightmon, Debbie Harris and Brenda Abbott; (9) that at age 54 he would not be eligible for parole until age 79; (10) that the statutory aggravators did not apply to the facts of the killing of Tammy Ruzga; and (11) that appellant is exceptionally intelligent and anti-social aspects can be ameliorated in a structured environment.

Appellee notes that while Jorgenson now suggests these warm and fuzzy qualities should have been addressed by the trial court, almost none were advanced even **as** a footnote thought in appellant's

thoughtful seventeen page memorandum in support of a life sentence. (R 414-430) Even in closing argument to the jury at penalty phase defense counsel conceded that 'we don't argue" that the problems in his childhood were extreme ("We're not saying that" - TR 2921) and admitted that the lack of a father figure and financial strains 'by themselves are not terribly weighty". (TR 2922) Even in the lengthy post-jury recommendation sentencing argument to the judge on September 8, 1995 (R 431-498) the defense chose not to mention the weak aspects of Jorgenson's childhood and family background. Appellant may not urge as reversible error the failure of the trial court to find non-statutory mitigation which the appellant did not arque below. See Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18, 24 (Fla. 1990); Hodges v. State, 595 So.2d 929, 934 (Fla. 1992), vacated on other grounds, Hodges v. Florida, ____, 121 L.Ed.2d 6 (1992), affirmed on remand, Hodges v. State, 619 So.2d 272 (Fla. 1993) (we will not fault the trial court for not guessing which mitigators Hodges would argue on appeal) .9

The instant case is distinguishable from Farr v. State, 621 So.2d 1368 (Fla. 1993), where the trial court refused or failed to consider a psychiatric report and PSI including information about the defendant's suicide attempts, murder of his mother, sexual abuse as a child, psychological disorders and drug abuse, apparently because he did not present a case in mitigation and had expressed a desire to die. Similarly in Robinson v. State, 684 So.2d 175 (Fla. 1996), the trial court erroneously believed that he must ignore proffered mitigation at the defense request and psychiatric and clinical evaluations disclosed mitigation (lengthy and substantial history of drug abuse and mental health problems) which received little or no discussion in the sentencing order. In contrast, the trial court at length dealt with proffered mental

This Court has recognized that the trial court's failure to consider or articulate minor, weak mitigation in a particular case does not ineluctably result in reversal. For example, in Thomas v. State, So.2d ___, 22 Florida Law Weekly S149 (1997), the trial court failed to mention in the sentencing order that the defendant was a good worker for Publix who showed up every day and did not cause trouble, that he was a "delightful young man" who is 'very loving" and good with the children of a witness. Another witness who met the defendant in prison had "seen a lot of good in him". This Court found the omission harmless ("In counterpart to the relatively minor mitigation, the evidence in aggravation . . . is massive" including the murder of his own mother to keep her from talking to police). See also Wickham v. State, 593 So.2d 191, 194 (Fla. 1992) (evidence regarding Wickham's abusive childhood, his alcoholism, his extensive history of hospitalization for mental disorders including schizophrenia should have been found and weighed by the trial court -- but was harmless and could not reasonably have resulted in a lesser sentence). If the failure to consider and find serious mental disorders in Wickham can be deemed harmless, the trial court's failure to mention the factors urged here should be deemed frivolous.

Turning to the items suggested by appellant, despite

health mitigation and any omissions concerned trivial items such as dropping out of high school with a 140 IQ and his 20 year hiatus between murders.

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